

A Level German

Pearson Edexcel Level 3 Advanced GCE in German (9GN0)

ALWAYS LEARNING PEARSON

Getting Started: GCE German 2016

Contents

1. Introduction	1
2. What's changed?	2
2.1 How has A level changed?	2
2.2 Changes to Edexcel GCE German	3
3. Planning	6
3.1 Planning and delivering linear A level courses	6
3.2 Suggested resources	6
3.3 Delivery models	9
4. Content guidance	10
4.1 Themes and sub-themes	10
5. Assessment guidance	13
5.1 Implications of linear assessment	13
5.2 Breakdown of Assessment Objectives	13
5.3 Assessment overview	13
5.4 Further details on the speaking assessment	17

1. Introduction

The A level qualifications are designed to be appealing and engaging to students, while preparing them for future study and work. An inspiring and culturally relevant course has been developed, based on feedback from teachers, students, subject associations, academics and advisors.

The qualification has a clear structure, which will enable students to develop advanced-level, transferable language alongside a deeper appreciation of the culture of Germany and other German-speaking countries. There is an emphasis on promoting understanding of grammar in order to allow spontaneous, creative use of language to suit different purposes. The themes are engaging and relevant, combining familiar and new content. Popular texts and films have been chosen, as well as some less well-known titles, both classical and contemporary.

This Getting Started guide provides an overview of the A level specification, to help you get to grips with the changes to content and assessment, and to help you understand what these mean for you and your students.

We are providing a package of support to help you plan and implement the specification.

- **Planning:** mapping documents to show how your old course matches the new A level; an editable course planner; a student guide; and schemes of work which you can adapt to suit your department
- **Understanding the standard:** specimen papers; example student work with examiner commentaries
- **Tracking learner progress:** specimen papers to support formative assessments and mock exams
- Personal support: MFL Subject Advisor
- **Teaching and learning:** a range of guides containing practical approaches to areas, such as analysing films and literature, conducting research and essay- writing; film and literature PowerPoints to support you with teaching; and ideas for the independent research project.

These support documents are available on the <u>GCE 2016 German pages</u> on the Edexcel website.

2. What's changed?

2.1 How has A level changed?

Changes to A level qualifications

From September 2016, A level German will be a fully linear qualification. This means that all examinations must be sat (and non-examination assessment submitted) at the end of the course. More information about the implications of the move to linear assessment is given on page 13.

Changes to Assessment Objectives

The A level languages Assessment Objectives have been revised. There are two main changes to the Assessment Objectives:

- A new AO4 has been introduced. This requires knowledge, understanding and critical and analytical response to cultural and social issuesrelating to target-language communities.
- AO3 has a greater proportion of the marks than in the previous specification, and has a subtly changed emphasis there is greater emphasis now on active application of grammar in generating new, independent language.

AO1 20%	 Understand and respond: in speech to spoken language including face-to-face interaction in writing to spoken language drawn from a variety of sources
AO2 30%	 Understand and respond: in speech to written language drawn from a variety of sources in writing to written language drawn from a variety of sources
AO3 30%	Manipulate the language accurately, in spoken and written forms, using a range of lexis and structures
AO4 A level 20%	Show knowledge and understanding of, and respond critically and analytically to, different aspects of the culture and society of countries/communities where the language is spoken

2.2 Changes to Edexcel GCE German

Paper 1	Listening, reading and translation	Themes 1, 2, 3 and 4	2 hours	40%
Paper 2	Written response to works and translation	Literary works/film	2 hours 40 minutes	30%
Paper 3	Speaking (internally conducted and externally assessed)	Independent research, plus Themes 1, 2, 3 and 4	21–23 minutes, including 5 minutes' preparation time	30%

Changes to specification content

Specification content is now based around social, political and cultural themes, relating to the German language, culture and communities. This will enable students to gain a deeper understanding of the culture related to their language of study, and ensure smooth progression to further study. The themes and assessment model are also designed to promote the development of transferable skills.

These changes are in line with reports published by the A-Level Content Advisory Board (ALCAB), informed by academics, and the Department for Education (DfE), which consulted a range of stakeholders. These reports were both strongly in favour of languages A levels which foster 'depth of knowledge, effective understanding and intercultural competence,' (DfE). The reports also identified a need for qualifications which develop transferable skills, especially research skills and 'the capacity for critical thinking on the basis of knowledge of the language, culture and society of the country or countries where the language is spoken' (ALCAB).

Students taking the A level will study four themes:

Theme 1: Gesellschaftliche Entwicklung in Deutschland

Theme 2: Politische und künstlerische Kultur im deutschen Sprachraum

Theme 3: Immigration und die deutsche multikulturelle Gesellschaft

Theme 4: Die Wiedervereinigung Deutschlands

There are a number of sub-themes, which can be found below. The content of these themes is assessed in Paper 1 (listening, reading and translation) and Paper 3 (speaking).

Students at A level are also required to study either two texts, or one text and one film, which will be assessed in Paper 2 (writing).

Moreover, at A level students will also be required to undertake an Independent Research Project, which will be assessed in the second part of the speaking exam. Further detail on this can be found in Section 5.4.

Comparison of the new specification to the Edexcel A1 and A2 2008

New specifica	tion	Previous specification
Theme 1	Gesellschaftliche Entwicklung in Deutschland Natur und Umwelt Bildung Die Welt der Arbeit	The world around us: [] environmental issues and the German-speaking world Education and employment Youth culture and concerns
Theme 2	Politische und künsterlische Kultur im deutschen Sprachraum Musik Die Medien Die Rolle von Festen und Traditionen	Youth culture and concerns Customs, traditions, beliefs and religions [] the arts
Theme 3	Immigration und die deutsche multikulturelle Gesellschaft • Die positive Auswirkung von Immigration • Die Herausforderungen von Immigration und Integration • Die staatliche und soziale Reaktion zur Immigration	National [] events: past, present and future (Geographical area) (Aspects of modern society)

Theme 4	Die Wiedervereiningung Deutschlands • Die Gesellschaft in der DDR vor der Wiedervereinigung • Ereignisse vor der Wiedervereinigung • Deutschland seit der Wiedervereinigung	National [] events: past, present and future (Historical period)
Literary works	Prescribed list of works Characterisation Structure Stylistic features Concepts and issues	Free choice of work
Films	Prescribed list of films	Free choice of film
Independent research	Must be linked to the social and cultural context of the German speaking world	Completely free choice – no requirement for research to relate to target-language culture or community

3. Planning

3.1 Planning and delivering linear A level courses

Naturally, the key difference of linear qualifications is that students need to retain all that they have learned for examination at the end of the course. In terms of language learning, this is a logical and positive development because students must retain and build on everything they learn in order to master a language effectively.

In terms of planning, teachers will need to consider the following:

- A level assessment is at the end of year 2.
- retakes are only possible for the entire qualification, not for individual modules.

Course planning needs to cover:

- four themes
- either two texts, or a text and film
- sufficient practice in listening, speaking, reading, writing and translation
- a broad range of grammar and opportunities to use this to generate language independently
- independent research
- development of critical and analytical thinking.

3.2 Suggested resources

The Edexcel A level course is supported by a range of free and paid-forresources*:

Coursebooks

Edexcel A level German (includes AS) by Paul Stocker, Helen Kent, Amy Bates, Louise Fenner, Paul Elliott, Marcus Waltl, Mariela Affum; Hodder Education

Other paid-for resources

ZigZag Education – a range of material supporting all four skills in German

Our free **online support** for teachers includes:

- vocabulary for literature and film
- quides on literature and film analysis, carrying out research and essay writing
- PowerPoints to support the teaching and learning of film and literature.

Other useful resources include

It is worth investigating resources written for Deutsch als Fremdsprache, as well as those aimed specifically at German A Level. This can help your students to encounter authentic German, in terms of currently used idioms, phrases and grammatical constructions, as well as an awareness of common cultural situations.

*You do not have to purchase any resources to deliver our qualification.

Useful resources include:

Grammar

Anne Buscha, Szilvia Szita, *B-Grammatik: Übungsgrammatik Deutsch als Fremdsprache, Sprachniveau B1/B2* Taschenbuch – 1. September 2011 (This book is also available for Sprachniveau A1 / A2 and C1 / C2)

Dr. Friederike Jin, Ute Voß, *Grammatik aktiv: A1-B1 - Üben, Hören, Sprechen: Übungsgrammatik mit Audio-CD* (lex:tra) Taschenbuch – 1. Juli 2013

Vocabulary

Lextra - Deutsch als Fremdsprache A1-B2 - Lernwörterbuch Grund- und Aufbauwortschatz: Grund- und Aufbauwortschatz nach Themen. Mit arabischer Übersetzung Paperback – 1 Sept. 2016

Jackie White, Raining Cats and Dogs: A - Z of English sayings and their German translations: Improve your understanding of the German language by learning ... also provided to help understanding: Volume 1 Paperback – 21 Oct 2015

Games

Carmen Beck, Barbara Duckstein, Valeska Hagner, & 4 mehr, *Zwischendurch mal* ... *Spiele: Deutsch als Fremdsprache* / Kopiervorlagen Taschenbuch – 2. Oktober 2012

Susanne Daum, Hans-Jürgen Hantschel, *55 kommunikative Spiele: Deutsch als Fremdsprache* Taschenbuch – 5. November 2012

Literature

There are students' guides to most of the books on the A Level specification. Some of these are aimed at slightly younger German students, and include activities as well as information. These can be a useful starting point for UKstudents. When you are searching, it is useful to include one or more of these terms:

Interpretationen, Analyse, Lektüreschlüssel, Unterrichtseinheit, Unterrichtsmaterialien

Some examples are given below as guides – this is by no means an exhaustive list.

<u>Manfred Eisenbeis</u>, *Interpretationen - Deutsch Dürrenmatt: Der Besuch der alten Dame* Taschenbuch

Olaf Kutzmutz, *Lektüreschlüssel. Max Frisch: Andorra* (Reclam Lektüreschlüssel) Kindle Edition

Films

A internet search for your chosen film and *Unterrichtsmaterialien* should generate plenty of resources. The Goethe Institut has a range of useful materials.

The following books may not relate specifically to your chosen film, but they do cover the basics of how to talk about and analyse films, with all the relevant German vocabulary:

Martin Ganguly, *Filmanalyse: Themenheft 8.-13. Klasse* (Edition.Film) Broschiert – 1. Januar 2011

Ines Müller-Hansen, *Das große Arbeitsbuch Film: Kopiervorlagen zur Geschichte, Analyse und Produktion von Filmen in der Sekundarstufe* Broschiert – 28. April 2014

Developing thinking and spontaneous discussion on relevant themes

Arthur Thömmes, *Spiele zur Unterrichtsgestaltung. Religion und Ethik* Taschenbuch – November 2009

Yves Bossart, Ohne Heute gäbe es morgen kein Gestern: Philosophische Gedankenspiele Gebundene Ausgabe – 29. September 2014

Newspapers, television and radio

http://www.onlinenewspapers.com/germany.htm

https://www.goethe.de/ins/br/de/sta/cur/bib.html

http://www.deutschesender.de/

http://www.radiolisten.de/

Other

https://www.goethe.de/de/index.html -

Goethe Institut London

https://www.bpb.de/ - Bundeszentrale für politische Bildung

https://www.bundesregierung.de/Webs/Breg/DE/Startseite/startseite node.html

3.3 Delivery models

Possible models for course planning include:

Model 1

Year	Theme 1	Literary work/	Grammar revision	Skills	
1	Theme 2	film	Grammar development	, gr , '	
	Revision			le listenin , reading, anslation King	dent ch
Year 2	Theme 3	Literary work/	Grammar revision	급	Independent research
	Theme 4	film	Grammar development		Inde
	Revision			Transfe speal writin	

Model 2

	Theme 1	Grammar	Skills
Year 1	Theme 2		g,
AS & A level	Literary work/film	ent	listening, ing, writing, thinking
	Revision (AS students)	шдо	sten 3, w iinki
	Theme 3	Revision/development	le lis ading ر ب
	Theme 4	n/d	erab , rea ation
Year 2 A level only	Independent research	visio	Transferable li speaking, readin translation, t
A level offiy	Literary work/film	Re	Tra peak tra
	Revision		S

Model 1 offers a more integrated learning experience, developing all skills together, whereas Model 2 presents a clearer order. Model 1 is potentially more complex to manage, but Model 2 could result in teachers and students running out of time on the second literary work/film and independent research.

More detailed Schemes of work and other useful planning documents are available as free resources on the <u>Edexcel website</u>.

4. Content quidance

The themes and sub-themes identified below are vehicles for the development of linguistic and cognitive skills, as well as cross-cultural awareness. Assessment is predominantly related to the ability to use the target language. Assessment will take place within the themes and sub-themes. Students will need to demonstrate knowledge, understanding and critical and analytical response relating to the target language community and culture.

4.1 Themes and sub-themes

Theme 1	Gesellschaftliche Entwicklung in Deutschland	Natur und Umwelt	Umweltbewusstsein;Recycling;erneuerbare Energie;nachhaltig leben.
		Bildung	 Bildungswesen und die Situation von Studenten; Sitzenbleiben;
			Berufsausbildung.
		Die Welt der Arbeit	 Das Arbeitsleben in Deutschland und die Arbeitsmoral; deutsche Geschäfte und Industrien.
Theme 2	Politische und künstlerische Kultur im deutschen Sprachraum	Musik	 Wandel und Trends; Einfluss der Musik auf die populäre Kultur.
		Die Medien	Fernsehen, Digital-, Print- und Onlinemedien;
			 Einfluss auf Gesellschaft und Politik.
		Die Rolle von Festen und Traditionen	Feste, Feiern, Sitten, Traditionen.
Theme 3	Immigration und die deutsche multikulturelle Gesellschaft	Die positive Auswirkung von Immigration	Beitrag der Immigranten zur Wirtschaft und Kultur.
		Die Herausforderungen von Immigration und Integration	 Maßnahmen von Gemeinden und örtlichen Gemeinschaften; Ausgrenzung und Entfremdung aus der Sicht von Immigranten.

		Die staatliche und soziale Reaktion zur Immigration	 Rechtsextremismus; politische Annäherung an Gastarbeiter, Immigranten und Asylbewerber; die öffentliche Meinung.
Theme 4	Die Wiedervereinigung Deutschlands	Die Gesellschaft in der DDR vor der Wiedervereinigung	 Arbeit; Wohnungswesen; kommunistische Prinzipien; das Verhältnis zum Westen.
		Ereignisse vor der Wiedervereinigung	 Der Zusammenbruch des Kommunismus; der Fall der Berliner Mauer.
		Deutschland seit der Wiedervereinigung	 Migrationen von Ost nach West; Arbeitslosigkeit in der früheren DDR; Auswirkungen auf Schulen in Deutschland.

Themes 1, 3 and 4 relate to Germany only. Theme 2 relates to the wider German-speaking world. This means that in the listening, reading and translation papers, the content may be related to a country other than Germany, though only standard German will be used. In the speaking test, students will not be asked to demonstrate specific knowledge about one particular country, but they must be able to justify their viewpoints in relation to a German-speaking country they have studied.

Teachers should refer to the guides and other resources available on the Edexcel website for support on how to approach the themes.

Ideas on how to approach the themes and suggested activities can be found in the document *Teaching and learning content ideas*. Note that these are suggestions only and are not prescriptive.

Literary	AS	
works	Andorra, Max Frisch, 1961	
	Der Besuch der alten Dame, Friedrich Dürrenmatt, 1956	
	Der Vorleser, Bernhard Schlink, 1995	
	Die Entdeckung der Currywurst, Uwe Timm, 1993	
	Die neuen Leiden des jungen W., Ulrich Plenzdorf, 1972	
	Ich fühl mich so fifty-fifty, Karin König, 1994	

	Stern ohne Himmel, Leonie Ossowski, 1958					
	Die Verwandlung, Franz Kafka, 1915					
	• Die verlorene Ehre der Katharina Blum, Heinrich Böll, 1974					
	• Sansibar oder der letzte Grund, Alfred Andersch, 1957					
	• Sommerhaus, später und andere Erzählungen, Judith Hermann, 1998					
	Tonio Kröger, Thomas Mann, 1903					
	Der kaukasische Kreidekreis, Bertolt Brecht, 1944					
Films						
	Das Leben der Anderen, dir. Florian Henckel von Donnersmarck (2006)					
	• Das Wunder von Bern, dir. Sönke Wortmann (2003)					
	Der Wald vor lauter Bäumen, dir. Maren Ade (2003)					
	Die Welle, dir. Dennis Gansel (2008)					
	Good Bye, Lenin!, dir. Wolfgang Becker (2003)					
	• Lola rennt, dir. Tom Tykwer (1998)					
	 Rosenstraße, dir. Margarethe von Trotta (2003) Almanya, Willkommen in Deutschland, dir. Yasemin Samdereli (2011) 					
	Der Untergang, dir. Oliver Hirschbiegel (2004)					
	Die fetten Jahre sind vorbei, dir. Hans Weingartner (2004)					
	Nirgendwo in Afrika, dir. Caroline Link (2001)					

Teachers should refer to the guides and other resources available on the Edexcel website for further support for the film and literary works.

5. Assessment quidance

5.1 Implications of linear assessment

- Assessment is at the end of year 2.
- Retakes are only possible for the entire qualification, not for individual modules.

5.2 Breakdown of Assessment Objectives

The breakdown of AssessmentObjectives by paper will be as follows:

Paper	A01	A02	A03	A04	Total
1 Listening, reading and translation	15	25		-	40%
2 Written response to works and translation	-	-	20	10	30%
3 Speaking	5	5	10	10	30%
Total	20	30	30	20	100%

5.3 Assessment overview

Historical texts

Our interpretation of historical is that the text was written at least 10 years ago. We do not interpret a historical text as one which was written in the last 10 years about events which took place more than 10 years ago. The text will relate to this specification's themes.

Literary text

An extract from a literary text will be used and will relate to one of the themes of this specification as much as possible. Literary texts are defined as texts written in German, for the German-speaking audience, for purposes of fiction or non-fiction. This includes texts written by authors who may have German as their second language. It naturally excludes materials such as readers written for English learners of German in UK classrooms.

The reading comprehension will require students to:

- understand the main points, gist and detail from spoken and written material
- infer meaning from complex spoken and written material, including factual and abstract content; in this context, abstract means ideas beyond the norm: e.g. moral, ethical, political values and opinions
- assimilate and use information from spoken and written sources, including material from online media.

This section is worth 28 marks.

For questions in which students respond in the target language, they may use words from the stimulus passage or extract, but they must not transcribe or copy down whole passages. For example:

A level

Paper 1: Listening, reading and translation

Written examination: 2 hours 40% of the qualification 80 marks

Section A is a Listening assessment based on a recording, featuring a range od German speakers, covering Themes 1, 2, 3 and 4. Students will respond to comprehension questions in the target language, based on a variety of contexts and sources.

Question formats require multiple-choice and open responses.

Responses in the target language are required, but students will not be marked on their quality of language. They will also be required to produce a short summary in German. Questions do not require students to respond in full sentences. They can respond using single words or phrases.

This section is worth 30 marks.

Students will have control of the listening player and we recommend they spend no more than 50 minutes on this section.

Section B is a reading assessment based on a variety of text-types and genres, including historical and literary texts.

Historical texts

Our interpretation of historical is that the text was written at least 10 years ago. We do not interpret a historical text as one which was written in the last 10 years about events which took place more than 10 years ago. The text will relate to this specification's themes.

Literary text

An extract from a literary text will be used and will relate to one of the themes of this specification as much as possible. Literary texts are defined as texts written in German, for the German-speaking audience, for purposes of fiction or non-fiction. This includes texts written by authors who may have German as their second language. It naturally excludes materials such as readers written for English learners of German in UK classrooms.

Question formats require both multiple-choice and open response. Questions are set in German and responses in German are required, though students will not be marked on their quality of language.

The reading comprehension will require students to:

- understand the main points, gist and detail from spoken and written material
- infer meaning from complex spoken and written material, including factual and abstract content; in this context, abstract means ideas beyond the norm: e.g. moral, ethical, political values and opinions
- assimilate and use information from spoken and written sources, including material from online media.

Section B is worth 30 marks.

We recommend students spend no more than 50 minutes on this section.

Section C is a translation into English. This will be an unseen passage and is worth 20 marks.

We recommend students spend no more than 20 minutes on this section Note: students are not permitted access to a dictionary during the examination

Paper 2: Written response to works and translation

Written examination: 2 hours and 40 minutes 30% of the qualification 120 marks

Section A is a translation into German and is worth 20 marks. The content of the passage is related to any of the four themes. We recommend students spend no more than 30 minutes on this section.

Sections B and C comprise a written response to works.

Students are required to respond to two questions on two different works. Foreach question the maximum mark is 50, totalling 100 for this section.

The works may comprise one book and one film, or two books. The works are listed in *Appendix 2 of the specification: Prescribed literary texts and films.* The literary texts listed include a range of novels, plays and a series of short stories. All of the films are feature-length.

There are two questions for each work and students choose one for each of their chosen works.

Note: students are not permitted access to a dictionary during the examination.

Frequently-asked questions on the writing paper

How much knowledge are students required to have beyond the novel?

We would expect that students acquire some background information in the teaching and learning of the works, including, but not limited to, the following:

- author
- historical and/or political context
- any particular movement to which the work may belong.

There are also works for which this background is essential to the understanding of the plot. For example:

Ich fühl mich so fifty-fifty

Analysieren Sie die Beziehung zwischen dem Individuum und dem Staat in diesem Roman **durch den Charakter** von Thomas.

In this example, it is clear that having some understanding of the GDR would help students in their understanding of the plot of the novel. However, the question still relates to what they read in the work. It is essential that students use evidence from the works in order to answer the questions, and do not write a generic response that is based on their knowledge of the GDR.

Can students study more than two works? Do they declare all the works on the RP3 form?

If there is time, students can certainly study as many of the set works as they wish, and this would then, of course, afford them a greater choice in the assessment. However, it is important that students have in-depth knowledge of the works studied, including the ability to use quotations. On the RP3 form they should list all the works from the set list that they have studied, and on which, therefore, they can possibly answer in the written examination, especially as the oral assessment will take place before the written assessment. Students should therefore be encouraged to conduct their independent research away from the set lists of works in order to ensure they can meet the criteria of both assessments.

How many quotations do students need to use?

There is no requirement for a specific number of quotations, although quotations are needed to provide a critical analysis with convincing interpretations. This is made clear in the mark scheme *Critical and analytical response (AO4):*

Critical analysis of issues/themes/cultural or social contexts is frequently demonstrated, with some convincing interpretations and points of view, **predominantly justified with appropriately selected evidence from the work.**

Paper 3: Speaking

The speaking assessment is conducted internally or by a visiting examiner and is externally assessed. It is worth 72 marks and comprises 30% of the qualification.

Total assessment time: between 21 and 23 minutes, which includes 5 minutes' formal preparation time

Task 1 requires students to choose one theme from a choice of two (these can be any of the four themes). They will then discuss one of the two statements on their chosen stimulus. Task 1 is worth 30 marks.

Task 2 is the Independent Research Presentation and requires students to give a short summary of their chosen topic, followed by a discussion with the examiner on their research. Task 2 is worth 42 marks.

Full details of the expectations of the speaking assessment can be found in the next section.

NB: All mark schemes can be found in the specifications.

5.4 Further details on the speaking assessment

Paper 3 is the speaking assessment, which is technically considered a non-examination assessment. In both cases, either the teacher or a visiting examiner willconduct the assessment and send the recordings to Edexcel for marking.

The total assessment time will be between 21 and 23 minutes, including five minutes' preparation time.

Task 1

Before the assessment

Teachers may open the materials up to three working days before the exam. This time does not include weekends so if, for example, an exam is scheduled for a Monday then materials can be opened on the previous Wednesday. This is to ensure the smooth running of the examination and to allow teachers to prepare. The teacher/examiner must not share information about the material with students in advance of the assessment. Edexcel will provide the centre with a grid detailing which student has which card (an example can be found on page 124 of the Sample Assessment Materials). The teacher can use this grid to plan for the assessment, but must not share details with students.

On the day

Task 1 (discussion on a Theme): Students have approximately 6 to 7 minutes' discussion time for this task.

- Content for this task will be based on any of the **12 sub-themes** from one of the four overall themes listed on *pages 8–9* of the specification. For example: *Die Medien, Bildung, Deutschland seit der Wiedervereinigung*, etc.
- The invigilator offers the student a choice of two cards just before the preparation time begins. The invigilator will ask the student, for example, whether he or she wants the card on *World of work* or the card on *Music*.
 N.B. the student must **not** see the card until the choice has been made.
- On each card are two statements. The student chooses one of these to prepare.
- The student is then given five minutes to prepare.
- After the five minutes' preparation time, the assessment begins:
- The examiner will start by asking which statement the student has chosen.
- The examiner will then ask the two compulsory questions relating to the statement.
- The examiner will then ask follow-up questions relating to the subject matter on the card.

For example, student 1 is given the choice of *Education (Bildung)* or *The positive impacts of immigration (Die positive Auswirkung von Immigration)*. The student chooses *Education*. There are two statements on the card with prompts:

A Die deutsche Berufsausbildung bleibt immer noch erfolgreich.

Sie müssen überlegen:

- Ihre Meinung von dem deutschen Berufsausbildungssystem.
- Vorteile dieses Systems für deutsche Firmen.

B Sitzenbleiben in Deutschland hat viele Nachteile für Schüler auf persönliche Ebene.

Sie müssen überlegen:

- Die Nachteile von Sitzenbleiben.
- Wie Schüler, die das Jahr wiederholen, von den Deutschen betrachtet warden.

Student 1 decides to speak about Berufsausbildungssytem, as in statement A.

The examiner will confirm the choice with the student in the assessment and then ask the two questions on the card:

A Die deutsche Berufsausbildung bleibt immer noch erfolgreich.

Compulsory teacher/examiner questions:

- 1. Was halten Sie von dem deutschen Berufsausbildungssystem?
- 2. Warum ist dieses System vorteilhaft für deutsche Firmen?

The examiner will then follow up with additional questions relating to the subject matter on the stimulus card. For example:

Was sind die Vorteile einer Berufsausbildung, Ihrer Meinung nach? Glauben Sie, dass Berufsschüler sich irgendwie benachteiligt fühlen?

Welche Folgen hat das Berufsausbildungssytem für die deutsche Industrie im Allgemeinen?

Part 2

The examiner must then broaden the discussion to cover aspects of the overall theme. In the example above, this would mean the examiner could ask questions on the Environment, the World of work, or other aspects of Education.

The questions must enable the student to meet the assessment criteria, i.e. to elicit examples and information to demonstrate their knowledge and understanding of the cultural and social context, and to analyse aspects of the theme by developing and justifying arguments and forming conclusions. The examiner may use some of the generic questions as provided in the Sample Assessment Materials. For example: Warum ist das wichtig/relevant?

Frequently-asked questions

In part 1 do students need to adopt a 'for/against' position on the statement?

No, this is not necessary, as the statement might not necessarily allow them to do this. However, they must be able to justify their opinions. For example, the statement on the card above asks students what advantages the vocational system has for German firms. Students might answer that it enables German firms to have a ready supply of labour or that it allows them to train people exactly in their methods. They do not then have to say whether they agree or disagree with this.

How much factual knowledge do students need to have?

Teachers should consult the *Knowledge and understanding mark grid* in the specification or the Sample Assessment Materials, as this provides detail on how students are rewarded. There is no requirement for students to be able to list facts. However, they do need to provide examples and justify these examples.

To the question above (Warum ist dieses System vorteilhaft für deutsche Firmen?), a student could respond:

Meiner Meinung nach ziehen deutsche Firmen enorme Vorteile aus dem System.

Erstens können Sie sicher sein, dass ihre jungen Mitarbeiter gut ausgebildet sind. Außerdem bringen diese Jugendlichen die neuesten Ideen zum Arbsitsplatz – und ältere Kollegen könnten davon lernen. Sie können auch sicher sein, dass neue Mitarbeiter, die notwendigen Fähigkeiten haben für ihre Firma. Das hat dann als Folge, dass weniger junge Leute innerhalb des ersten Jahres im Betrieb gekündigt werden.

Note also that Task 1 is marked as a whole, so it might be possible for students to provide fuller detail in the follow-up questions.

In the speaking assessment, can the examiner change the formal question to the informal form, or is that considered to be rephrasing?

Questions should be asked as they are written on the card.

If a student says "Do you mean ...?" after the examiner asks the question, can you answer "Yes" or "No"?

We would encourage the examiner to repeat the question as phrased on the card. However, if the student is struggling, then we would expect there to be some additional support, though this may affect the mark the student is ultimately awarded.

Can you ask the invigilator which cards students have chosen, or do you have to wait until the students tell you?

It is fine for the invigilator to tell you which card students have chosen.

Task 2: independent research project (IRP)

Students have approximately 10 to 11 minutes for this task.

Prior to the exam

Choosing the project

The independent research project (IRP) allows students to conduct in-depth research into an aspect of the culture of or life in Germany and other German-speaking countries in which they are particularly interested. Students should be encouraged to think carefully about what they want to research, as the subject must allow them not only to showcase what they have learned about the subject, but also to analyse the subject in some depth.

The IRP may be based on any of the four themes of study or on a subject of interest of the student's choosing, but must relate to the cultural or social context of German or another German-speaking country. Should students choose a subject relating to one of the specification themes, it is possible that the same theme could come up in Task 1. Students should therefore go beyond the specification sub-themes and should ensure they have conducted wider reading on their chosen subject.

The IRP must **not** be based on one of the literary works or films studied for Paper 2. Students will receive a mark of zero for Task 2 if their IRP focuses on a work studied for Paper 2. However, an IRP could focus on a wider exploration of the author or film-maker of those works studied. For example, if studying a novel by a particular author for Paper 2, the IRP must not focus on that novel, as this would be a duplication of content. However, the independent research could focus on the life of the author, or the aspects of society which motivated the author in the broader sense.

Ideas for the IRP can be found on the **Edexcel website**.

Once students have chosen the subject which they wish to research, they will need to decide upon a question or statement which they will then investigate individually. This might also help students to narrow down their choice of subject.

When to start the independent research project (IRP)

The IRP can be started at any point within the two-year course. However, the IRP form must be submitted to Edexcel at least three weeks before the start of the assessment. This form requires students to note down key findings, as well as sources. This is to allow visiting examiners the time to prepare their questions.

Sources

As part of the assessment, students must refer to at least two of the **written** Germanlanguage sources and the student's declaration form provides space for up to four. These could, of course, be from newspaper articles, perhaps found on the internet. We advise students to keep a record of all the sources they have used, and teachers to give some support in how to use sources. There are many websites to which students can be directed, and it is also advisable that teachers help students locate resources.

The assessment

Part 1: Students give a presentation of a maximum of two minutes. This presentation must include:

- a summary of at least two of the written German language sources they have used as part of their research
- the authors' main points/ideas
- a personal response.

Part 2: Following on from the presentation, the examiner then moves on to a discussion of the student's research, including a wider exploration of the content of the student's presentation and of the research as a whole. The examiner should use the *RP3 form*, completed by the student, to identify questions in advance, in order to ensure that the discussion remains focused on the research.

In **both** tasks, students are expected to ask questions which elicit opinions as part of the natural discourse and to confirm that their own points of view have been understood. A list of suggested questions has been provided in the specification and should be shared with students.

Examiners should not give lengthy answers, but acknowledge the question and move on. If the student does not ask a question, this can be prompted by the examiner.

Frequently-asked questions

Can students make comparisons with the home country?

There may, of course, be instances where it is necessary or interesting to bring in examples or comparisons with the home country. For example, this could be used to strengthen an argument. However, the assessment criteria for *Knowledge and understanding of society and culture* (AO4) clearly rewards students who focus on the cultural and social context of Germany and other German-speaking countries, so we would recommend that comparison with the home country is limited.

Can students refer to their literary works/films as evidence to support their argument?

Quotations from the literary works or close reference to the films may be applicable for use as evidence to support an argument. However, students must refer to two other written German-language sources in order to access marks from the grid *Responding to written language in speech (AO2)*.

Can all my students cover the same topic?

It is envisaged, especially in large centres, that some students might have similar interests and might therefore wish to cover the same topic. This is acceptable and encourages teamwork. However, the statement or question for each student's project **must** be different, as well as the angle from which they are approaching it. For example:

Two students might be interested in the Weimar republic and wish to research this area. Two different angles could be:

- Artistic culture in the Weimar republic
- The impact on Berlin society

What can teachers help their students with?

Below is a list of what teachers must and must not do. Further clarification can also be sought from the assessment team and the FAQs on Conducting the speakingexam.

What sources should my students use?

Teachers should help their students in identifying suitable sources, and also help them analyse sources. Students should be encouraged to use a variety of sources, including (but not limited to):

- newspaper articles
- videos from the period in time (such as news reports or speeches)
- academic articles
- critical reviews for books and films.

Independent research - 'Can and can't do's for teachers

Supporting students

Teachers can:

- give guidance on developing research skills (including methodology and analytical tools)
- give guidance on selecting a subject and question or statement for the student's IRP
- explain what independence means (see definition in *Guidance on the independent research project* in the specification)
- comment on the suitability of the area of research (availability of resources, time constraints)
- give guidance and advice on completing Form RP3
- advise on and direct students to the Assessment Objectives
- provide a selection of resources for student access.

Teachers **must:**

- confirm that the question or statement has the potential to meet the requirements of the assessment criteria, and offer general guidance on any necessary amendments
- ensure that the question or statement does **not** correspond with one of the literary
 works or films which the student has studied for Paper 2: teachers will be able to
 identify this from the information given on *Form RP3*; students will receive a mark
 of zero for Task 2 if their IRP focuses on a work studied for Paper 2
- review each student's Form RP3; teachers should ensure that the research can suitably fulfil the specification requirements and should give general guidance on the methodology and analytical tools which the student could use
- promote good practice, such as referencing and using a bibliography system
- sign the student's Form RP3 before the examination to declare that the IRP is wholly the student's work
- monitor the different research projects being undertaken in a centre to ensure that independence is being maintained; if more than one student chooses to research the same topic, the teacher must ensure that each student has a different question or statement and, therefore, an independent focus.

Teachers must not:

- give students a choice of questions or statements from which they then choose, including a group question or statement for whole-class research
- give detailed feedback or guidance to individual students about how to improve their work to meet the requirements of the assessment criteria; the guidance provided should only enable students to take the initiative in making amendments, rather than detailing what amendments should be made; this could include:
- o suggesting additional sources to consult
- o broadening or narrowing their topic of research
- rehearse or provisionally assess the student's presentation
- provide access to, or rehearse, questions which will be used in the assessment of the student's independent research.

Examining technique checklist

The following guidelines will be helpful for teacher-examiners in preparing to administer the speaking assessments.

- The examiner's opening should put the student at ease.
- The examiner should remain friendly and encouraging throughout.
- The examiner should keep input to a minimum.
- There should be a predominance of open questions and encouragement.
- The examiner should refrain from proffering anecdotes, opinions, advice or information.
- The conversation/discussion should flow naturally.
- The examiner should take the student beyond learned or prepared material.
- The examiner should interrupt any pre-rehearsed sections.
- The examiner's interventions should be sufficiently demanding.
- The examiner should take the student to his/her linguistic ceiling.
- The closing should be upbeat, but not effusive.
- The examiner should keep to time for all elements of the assessments.